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To the Members and Friends of the Oriental Institute: 

I find it a bit more difficult than usual to give you a comprehensive 
report on the work of the Oriental Institute for the year 1958-59. The 
reasons are not hard to state. For one thing, much of what went on was 
actually handled by an efficient administrative staff rather than by 
myself, owing to my illness of the past summer and to the protracted 
period of recuperation that it required. For another, the Iraq Revolu­
tion of July 14, 1958, and the landing of United States forces in Lebanon 
seriously restricted our work in the field, limiting it to Egypt. Finally, 
the continuance of disturbed conditions in the Near Eastern area during 
most of the academic year left us marking time with respect to certain 
policy decisions that had been under careful consideration and that, if 
they had been fully clarified and adopted, would have been worthy of 
your special attention because of their bearing upon objectives and pro­
cedures in our field work. 

Of our several major projects, two were continued without interrup­
tion. In Egypt the great undertaking of the Epigraphic Survey was con­
tinued, with Professor John A.Wilson taking charge so that Professor 
George Hughes might enjoy a sabbatical leave here at Chicago with us. 
At home the equally great enterprise of the Assyrian Dictionary proceed­
ed on schedule, two further volumes of the projected twenty-six coming 
from the presses to enhance the reputation of the Dictionary staff and the 
Institute and to provide scholars everywhere with access to the vast re­
sources which the cuneiform texts provide for our knowledge of mil­
lenniums of ancient history. In Egypt the work we have been doing 
jointly with the Egyptian Department of Antiquities in the clearance of 
the Tomb of Kheruef was continued to the completion of its first phase, 
but in Libya excavation was suspended as planned, to permit work on 

1 

oi.uchicago.edu



the preparation of the final report. Instruction of a growing student 
group went on in many fields at the Institute, and behind the doors of 
many professional offices the preparation of volumes discharging obliga­
tions from earlier enterprises was in progress. 

Activity, thus, did not abate, and, if in this instance I do not go into 
each facet of our work in all the detail it deserves, this is because it has 
seemed desirable at this time to focus your attention upon our Museum 
and to describe its work more fully than would otherwise be possible. 

Cordially, 

CARL H. KRAELING 

Director 
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THE ORIENTAL INSTITUTE MUSEUM 

STAFF 

Curator: ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR PINHAS DELOUGAZ 

Secretary: DR. WATSON B O YES 

Office Staff: LEE SWITALSKI, photographic archives and services 

JEAN HALL, office secretary 

NICHOLAS MILLET, part-time assistant for accessions 

Docent: DR. PENELOPEWEADOCK 

Laboratory Staff: ROBERT HANSON, preparator 

FRED BUCH, assistant preparator 

URSULA SCHNEIDER, photographer 

HENRY STEWART, part-time assistant 

Guards: WILLIAM MORDEN 

Rocco MELILLO 

THE CHARACTER OF THE MUSEUM 

Chicago has today a number of large museums that quite properly 
enjoy a high reputation on the national and international scene. In its 
own limited and chosen field the Museum of the Oriental Institute 
seeks to maintain the same high standards as they and to supplement the 
meaning which these institutions have both for the Greater Chicago 
community and for the University of Chicago of which it is a part. 

The relation of the Oriental Institute Museum to other similar insti­
tutions in the Chicago area is perhaps most closely analogous to that be­
tween the Freer Gallery at Washington, D.C., and the remainder of 
the Smithsonian, on the one hand, and the larger circle of the local 
museums—the Corcoran, the Philips, the Textile Museum, etc.—-on the 
other. But the Oriental Institute Museum neither has been separately en­
dowed or founded nor does it receive civic or national support. A small 
nucleus of the objects it contains came to the University as a collection 
through the bequest of Mrs. Caroline E. Haskell in 1894 and was origi­
nally housed in Haskell Hall. When Breasted Hall was erected in 1931, 
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the Haskell Collection was moved to the new building, to be the better 
exhibited there, and a bronze tablet in the Museum's lobby commemo­
rates this fact and the gift of the collection. But what the Oriental Insti­
tute Museum has become since 1931, it owes to the University, to those 
who have guided its work, and to the circle of friends which it has 
gained in the Chicago area over the years. 

Today the Oriental Institute Museum houses the largest and most 
representative collection of objects of ancient Near Eastern culture and 
art west of the Alleghenies and in its spread rivals or excels many of 
the older collections of the eastern seaboard. Its five halls contain materi­
als exhibiting the cultural history and heritage of Egypt, of Anatolia, 
Syria, Cyprus, and Assyria, of Babylonia, of ancient Iran, and of Pales­
tine, respectively (Fig. 1). In time these materials range from the 
palaeolithic age of man to late Byzantine and early Islamic times. Much 
of what has been brought together here derives from the excavations of 
the Oriental Institute and is thus of particular value because the local 
and historical context of the materials is known and fully recorded. In-

FlG. 1.—Egyptian Hall of the Museum, from the lobby 
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deed, the intimate connection that thus exists between the archeological 
field work of the Oriental Institute and its Museum has an important 
bearing upon the character of the Museum. 

The Museum seeks to present examples of all that is best in the cul­
tural achievement of the ancient Near Eastern peoples, including the 
finest products of their art; but it cannot be merely an art museum. It 
sees art as one facet of a wide range of cultural achievement. Hence a 
cooking vessel and a comb, a foundation deposit and a bronze pin, will 
be found exhibited with the same care as the best Amarna bas-relief or 
the finest Hellenistic jewelry. Furthermore, all the objects, whether of 
broadly cultural or of specifically artistic value, tend to be exhibited and 
seen in historical sequences, showing the cultural and intercultural de­
velopment of the Near East by periods and peoples over several thou­
sand years. The combination of these two factors gives our Museum its 
special character and sets it off from the other museums of the city. 

A hypothetical analogy will perhaps illustrate the difference. To 
achieve a similar result, the Art Institute, for example, would need to 
exhibit its excellent collection of Peruvian pottery in a context repre­
senting all the many more facets of the life of the South American 
Indian, or its Renaissance painting in the context of the daily life of the 
Florentine nobility, while the Museum of Natural History would need 
to supply its aboriginal ethnological exhibits with the products of a 
highly sophisticated culture level never developed by the peoples of the 
South Pacific. Even if this were possible, it is clearly not the purpose 
of the institutions in question to proceed in this direction. But for the 
Oriental Institute Museum the procedure and the character described 
are basic, and this is what gives the Museum its particular importance 
for the educational and research work of the Oriental Institute and the 
University and for the educational and cultural life of Greater Chicago. 
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THE EDUCATIONAL WORK OF THE MUSEUM 
The Oriental Institute Museum draws visitors from Greater Chicago, 

from other cities and all states of the Union, and from many foreign 
countries. It is open daily from 10:00 A.M. to 5 :oo P.M. (except Mon­
days, Christmas Day, and New Year's Day) and evenings before the 
regular Institute lectures that are held once each month. Attendance 
figures during the last three years have ranged as follows: 

1956-57 43-608 
1957-58 43,369 

1958-59 47,813 

The growth in the number of visitors is modest and healthy. During 
195 8-59 it has been stimulated by special exhibits, by regular biweekly 
announcements made over Radio Station WFMT at our expense, and 
by the expanding work of the Docent. 

FIG. 2.—High-school students on guided tour of the Museum 

The planned educational work of the Museum proceeds at three 
levels. One is represented by school groups from other institutions, a 
second by the adult groups from Chicago and neighboring midwestern 
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cities, and the third by the professional and graduate students enrolled 
at the University of Chicago and working in the Institute, who use the 
Museum as their laboratory. The third group has been taken care of 
down through the years and will continue to be handled by the Orien­
tal Institute's professors of archeology. The other two groups we have 
been able to serve only during the last three years. This has been made 
possible by the appointment of a Museum Docent, thanks to funds 
supplied by contributions and dues of Institute Members (Fig. 2). The 
results have been gratifying, and their outward aspects can be set forth 
most readily in tabular form. 

NUMBER OF GROUPS GUIDED BY THE DOCENT 

Year 

1956-57 
1957-58 

1958-59 

Elementary 
School 

48 

77 
82 

High 
School 

35 
28 
32 

College 
and 

Seminary 

13 
16 

19 

Other 

70 
34 
83 

Total 

166 
155 
216 

N U M B E R O F P E R S O N S IN G R O U P S G U I D E D B Y T H E D O C E N T 

Year 

1956-57 
1957-58 
J958-59 

Elementary 
School 

1,634 
2,578 
2,936 

High 
School 

1,389 
1,217 
1,144 

College 
and 

Seminary 

328 
508 
390 

Other 

1,800 

1,055 
1,808 

Total 

5,151 
5,358 
6,278 

Other interesting bits of statistical information come to light in the 
Docent's report of the work for 1958-59. Of the school groups for 
whose visits arrangements were made through her, 90 represent public 
schools, 10 private schools, and 14 parochial schools. Of these, 46 came 
from the city of Chicago and 68 from outside the city limits. An impor­
tant feature of the Docent's work was that of visiting schools that 
planned to send groups to the Museum or that could not transport 
their pupils to the Museum. Such visits were made to 22 schools, 16 of 
them lying outside the city limits. An aspect of the Museum's educa­
tional work that has been growing in importance is that of its appeal to 
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adult and other informally organized study groups or clubs and that of 
of its appeal to church groups. This accounts for the relatively large 
number of groups (83) and visitors (1,808) listed in the tables under the 
general heading "Other." 

Certain deficiencies in the provisions we are currently in a position 
to make for the educational work of the Museum under existing 
budgetary limitations have come to light or have been re-emphasized 
during the current year. At the elementary- and high-school level, and 
particularly for the visits of the Docent to the schools that are planning 
to send their classes to the Museum, the availability of a film library of 
cinema "shorts" would be a great asset. We have tried to collect a 
nucleus of such films as are commercially available, but this falls far 
short of the actual needs. Above all, the films are commonly somewhat 
irrelevant to the specific needs of the school programs, lack the contact 
with the "discovery" element in archeological exploration, and some­
times even offend our own scientific knowledge of what is or is not so. 
We ought ourselves to be producing educational materials for use at the 
elementary- and high-school level, both in the textbook and in the film-
library fields—a large and expensive undertaking that would need to 
to be separately staffed and financed. 

In the field of education for professional purposes we have another 
deficiency to cope with. Our University of Chicago graduate students 
studying archeology have at their disposal the collections of all kinds of 
artifacts housed in the rows and rows of storage cabinets that fill the 
vast caverns of our basement. These are the materials that the regular 
visitor to the Museum never sees—-the submerged two-thirds of the 
"iceberg." In some categories the quantity of material available in these 
cabinets is twenty-five to fifty times what can possibly be exhibited. 
At one occasion at the beginning of the "atomic scare," when we were 
asked to put a dollar value on our Museum's holdings, we estimated 
the objects in the Museum halls at between three and four million 
dollars and those in the basement at at least another million. Much of 
this last has an additional value for study purposes, especially where it 
is fragmentary and requires the development of a trained imagination 
to establish its complete form, significance, and attribution. 

We need in this connection to set up in one of the basement halls an 
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archeological laboratory, with tables and desks and rows of drawers 
and files for keeping at hand study collections, especially of pottery 
fragments, from various periods and parts of the cultural life of the 
ancient Near East. We have made the sketches for the installation of 
this workshop and are waiting only to see when we can afford it. 

SPECIAL EXHIBITS AND 
IMPORTANT RECENT ACCESSIONS 

What has been said above about the nature of the Oriental Institute 
implies as a natural corollary that many of its basic exhibits must be 
standing exhibits, to give a fundamental picture of the nature and the 
development of different ancient cultures. But we are aware of the 
danger inherent in a ' 'frozen' ' display and realize that the worst com­
ment anyone can make about any museum is the self-satisfied assertion 
that he has seen it. To avoid giving the lethal "static" impression, our 
particular type of museum must seek to renew itself continuously, 
which can be done in a great many ways, given a healthy imagination 
on the part of the staff and an interested, helpful circle of friends. 

It is surprising how much can be done in this connection with color 
applied to the background of the exhibition cases and with changes and 
improvements in lighting. It is interesting to observe how even the 
departure from a balanced, "at-rest" distribution in groups of small 
objects and their rearrangement along modern lines can give new em­
phasis to their individual importance (Fig. 3). We are continually re­
arranging the elements of the ongoing part of our "show" by applying 
what can be learned about modern museum techniques on this score, 
but much remains to be done and learned to achieve the full fruitage of 
the current experiments. 

An important feature of any museum such as ours is that it shall have 
special temporary exhibits. When by good fortune the field expeditions 
of the Institute have both the permission of the local governments and 
the opportunity to bring home with them large collections of important 
recent discoveries, these provide a natural occasion for special exhibi­
tions. The work in the field during 1957-58 did not produce this type 
of result, but three separate "shows" were arranged nonetheless. 
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I 

FIG. 3.—Individual wall case ofCanaanite exhibit, showing arrangement of objects 

The first was a special display of objects representing the religion and 
cult of the Canaanite period of Palestinian history—a display that bal­
anced at one end of the Palestinian Hall what the Dead Sea Scrolls 
exhibit suggested at the other. For if in the Dead Sea material one could 
see the sectarian diffraction of later Jewish religious life, one could at 
the other glimpse what it was by way of Baal worship, to which 
Israelite religious beliefs and institutions reacted in the formative, 
patriarchal period. 
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A second display, also in the Palestinian Hall, had a more practical 
purpose. Here, along the blank west wall, we arranged long series of 
colored prints of Egyptian tomb decorations. This was an "over-run" 
of individual plates from the famous Davies-Gardiner Ancient Egyptian 

Paintings that we discovered in England and that we have been offering 
for sale to visitors with astonishing success. 

The most important display of the year was a loan exhibit from 
Turkey representing objects found at Gordion and in a royal tomb there 
by the University Museum of Philadelphia (Fig. 6). The exhibit is one 
we shared with the University Museum, the National Gallery at Wash­
ington, the Boston Museum of Fine Arts, and the Metropolitan Museum 
in New York. It remained for one month and attracted no little atten­
tion. The job of mounting such "shows" falls upon the shoulders of the 
Curator and the preparators of the Museum. The cost of having the 
Gordion "show" and its Turkish attendant was borne by income from 
Members' dues and gifts. 

More important for the continuing life of the Museum than such 
temporary and loan exhibits are new accessions to its permanent hold­
ings. From the Libyan field expedition of 1957-58 we received only one 
such object, namely, a remarkable portrait head (Fig. 7). It is that of an 
elderly lady, her face strong and deeply wrinkled, done in the severe 
"veristic" manner of Republican Roman art, and is a welcome addition 
to the growing collection of antique marbles from the Hellenistic and 
Roman Orient. 

Outstanding among the gifts of Members and among the purchases 
made possible by funds supplied by Members during 1958-59 are the 
following: 

1. An Amarna-style Egyptian head in sunken relief (cover design). Deeply sensi­
tive and exquisitely modeled, this is an extra-fine example of a type and style 
rare and hard to come by. The head originally was part of some larger work 
from which it was long since broken off or cut out. 

Purchased with funds supplied anonymously by an Institute Member. 

2-3. Two bronze statuettes representing, respectively, a winged deity and a man with 
a dog, the former of the Isin-Larsa period (ca. 1900 B.C.), the latter of the Assyrian 
Empire (Figs. 4 and 5). The deity has certain unusual features and was the subject 
of a long discussion at a meeting of the University's Near East Club of students 
and professors. The thesis advanced and debated was that the winged figure rep-
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FIG. 4.— Bronze statuette of inter- FIG. 5.—Bronze statuette of man with dog 
cessory deity (recent accession). (recent accession). 

resents the deity that intercedes for mortals before the throne of the high god. 
The man with the dog we were particularly happy to be able to obtain because a 
similar bronze was recently found in our Nippur excavations as a dedicatory 
offering in a temple but had been kept by the Iraq Antiquities Department in 
the division of finds. 

Purchased with funds supplied at Christmastime by Institute Members Miss 
Harriet Borland, Mrs. George G. Cameron, Mr. Edward J. Chalifoux, Mr. 
Christian E. Jarchow, Mr. Leon Pomerance, Mrs. Edwin A. Seipp, Mrs.W. 
Byron Smith, Mrs. Gustavus F. Swift, and in memory of Mrs. Alvin E. Bastien. 

4. Illuminated liturgical manuscript of the Four Gospels in Arabic with four full-
page Evangelist portraits. Probably seventeenth century, this duodecimo manu­
script is a unique example of the continuing importance of the Byzantine art 
tradition in the Islamic Orient. While the Arabic text is done in a beautiful 
Koranic hand, the miniatures, in the finest late Byzantine style, were clearly done 
by Christian artists and therefore have the names of the Evangelists inscribed in 
Greek against their gold background. 

Purchased with funds supplied by Mrs. Claire von der Marwitz. 

The first three objects mentioned are currently on exhibit in the halls 
of the Museum, while the fourth is still kept in the Museum Vault. 
Also on exhibit in the Persian Hall, on loan from Mr. and Mrs. Leon 
Pomerance of Long Island, is an excellent example of Iranian gold 
applique from the famous Zawiyah Treasure (Fig. 8). Other smaller 
bronzes and seal cylinders, purchased with funds supplied by Members' 
dues and gifts, have been incorporated in the larger holdings of the 
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Museum, in which they filled minor gaps. Still other objects have 
appeared for the first time on the Museum floor, having been put into 
exhibitable form by the preparators and Member volunteers in our 
laboratories, after languishing for many years in the storage cabinets of 
the basement (Fig. 9). 

While the Museum's exhibits continue to renew themselves in many 
different ways and at many individual points, there is still much room 
for improvement—both in the exhibits themselves and in the facilities 
for their presentation. Our ceiling lights are utterly antiquated by con­
temporary standards. We have far too much window light, which is 
reflected in the glass of the cases obscuring the exhibits. Drop ceilings 
with indirect over-all lighting and apertures for "spots" would make a 
big difference. By carrying the walls of the building up into the window 
spaces to one-third of the height of the windows, we not only could cut 
out the worst of the reflection but would gain wall space for greatly 
enlarged pictures, "blow-ups" of the lands and sites from which our 
exhibits come. At the suggestion of a member of the University's 
Board of Trustees, we have recently been considering installing the 

FIG. 6.—Corner of the Gordion loan exhibit 
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Lectour system of microwave internal broadcasting, so that visitors by 
renting a pocket receiver at small cost can hear prepared "gallery lec­
tures" on the exhibits. On this point we are waiting to see how satis­
factorily this equipment will work at the Art Institute, where it is cur­
rently being installed. But one thing we really should get at an early 
date, namely, a new Balopticon to provide continuous daylight projec­
tion of slides and films showing the archeological work of the Institute. 
Our present model is antediluvian, and the black-and-white slides which 
it can handle are so antiquated that we are ashamed to turn it on. But 
this kind of free educational entertainment is always welcomed by the 
very young and by those oldsters who enjoy sitting and resting then-
legs for a change and is good propaganda. 

FIG. 7.—Republican Roman portrait head in marble from Libya (recent accession) 
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LECTURES AND THE URBANIZATION SYMPOSIUM 
An important part of the work carried on in connection with the 

Museum is that of the illustrated lectures given one each month from 
October to May for Members and Friends of the Institute. Members 
receive advance notice of all such lectures, and the first lecture in the 
fall is usually open only to them and personally invited friends, so that 
they may enjoy also the reception that usually follows. Announcement 
is also made to Members of other lectures of interest to them, arranged 
by the local chapter of the AIA. 

During the academic year 1958-59 the following lectures were given 
in the Oriental Institute series: 

October New Treasures from Tomb and Temple in Ancient Egypt, PROFESSOR GEORGE 
R. HUGHES, Field Director of the Epigraphic Survey, Oriental Institute, Univer­
sity of Chicago. 

November Recent Excavations in the Capital of the Hittite Empire, HANS G. GUTER-
BOCK, Professor of Hittitology, Oriental Institute, University of Chicago. 

December The Temple of Inanna at Nippur, RICHARD HAINES (Oriental Institute), 
DONALD HANSEN (Harvard University), and ALBRECHT GOETZE (Yale University). 

January New Insights into the Dead Sea Scrolls, MONSIGNOR PATRICK WILLIAM SKEHAN, 
Professor of Semitic Languages, Catholic University of America. 

March The Monastery of St. Catherine on Mount Sinai, PROFESSOR GEORGE H. FOR­
SYTH, JR. , Field Director of the joint expedition of the University of Michigan, 
Princeton University, and the University of Alexandria, Egypt; Chairman of 
Department of Fine Arts, University of Michigan. 

April Phrygian Art in Oriental and Greek Perspective, PROFESSOR MACHTELD MELLINK, 
Bryn Mawr College. 

May Progress of the Hazor Dig, D R . YIGAEL YADIN, Director of the Hazor Excava­
tions, Hebrew University, Jerusalem. Sponsored jointly by University College 
and the Oriental Institute. 

Technical deficiencies in the equipment of our Breasted Lecture Hall 
crop up occasionally and are being coped with as circumstances permit. 
With funds supplied by Members, the facilities of our projection room 
have been improved and are now adequate to meet all demands. An 
interested Member is making available a "lavalier" type microphone so 
that speakers whose voices need magnification can be heard even when 
they move from the lectern. The public address system has been over-
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hauled but is ancient and may ultimately need replacement. Ventilation 
is adequate for the winter season but leaves something to be desired 
during the warmer months. Air conditioning, which is the natural 
solution, is expensive. 

During the three days December 4-7, 1958, the Museum was the 
scene of an unusual event, a symposium attended by seventy invited 
guests, half from, the various faculties and departments of the Univer­
sity of Chicago and half from other institutions of learning in this 
country and from overseas. In the course of six regular sessions, each 
lasting an entire morning or afternoon, specialists in many fields of 
learning discussed to their hearts' content and with much insight 
the importance of the city for the development of high civilization 
throughout the various periods in the history of the ancient Near 
Eastern world from Sumerian through Greek and Roman times. The 
discussions were recorded on tape and are being prepared for publica­
tion. The occasion was notable and enhanced by the setting (Fig. 10). 

B E H I N D T H E S C E N E S 

As anyone who has ever had anything to do with it knows, a great 
deal has to go on behind the scenes in a museum to obtain on the floor 
the results that look so simple and obvious to the casual visitor. The 
work that has to go on behind the scenes in an archeological and histori­
cally oriented museum like that of the Oriental Institute is even more 
complicated than usual—-owing to the origin and nature of its holdings, 
on the one hand, and to the institutional context to which it belongs, 
on the other. The Oriental Institute Museum has two foci of its behind-
the-scenes operation—its laboratories and storage areas in the basement 
and its offices on the second floor of the building. Both are understaffed, 
but both are working heroically to keep up with the pressure of imme­
diate necessities. 

In the laboratories and workshops the preparator and his assistant (we 
used to have three men here) prepare materials for exhibition, make 
the exhibition cases and install their lighting, and mount and dismount 
exhibits. In the preparation of materials for exhibit they are assisted cur­
rently by two volunteer workers from among our Members (our pet 

16 

oi.uchicago.edu



name for them is "mummy-dusters") who work with them one day 
each week. What makes the workload in the basement so very heavy 
in our case is that most of what we receive and process is measured not 
by its exhibition value but by its potential historical value. For our field 
archeologists every old bronze disk, no matter how corroded, every 
oddment of old pottery vessels, of clay tablets, or of modeled stone 
objects, is precious, and it is the function of the laboratory to clean, 
patch, assemble, and repair these pieces so that a maximum of historical 
information may be obtained from them for our scholarly work and 
publication—irrespective of whether they could ever be exhibited. In 
50 per cent of the cases, what the laboratories accomplish does wonders 
for our research and yields nothing to the actual repertoire of exhibit-
able objects. 

FIG. 8.—Gold plaque from the Zawiyah Treasure (on loan) 
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A position intermediate between the technical laboratories and the 
Museum offices is occupied by the photographic workshop. Here the 
demands of our exhibits, of those who wish to reproduce our objects 
for educational purposes—particularly in textbooks—-of our own field 
workers as they prepare their reports upon our excavations, and of our 
scholars as they write new interpretative and critical publications and 
lectures run together in a never ending stream. The demands not only 
are extensive but are of the most varied types, and all require the 
highest standards of workmanship. With the help of Membership funds 
we have in past years provided at least a basic nucleus of highly modern 
and efficient equipment for the conduct of this work. 

The offices of the Museum would be happy indeed if they had only 
to determine and implement policy regarding the operation of the 
Museum itself, its exhibits, its educational program, its loans to other 
institutions, and its technical and its photographic laboratories. Instead, 
like the laboratories, they find themselves deeply involved in our arche-
ological field work and in our publication and our teaching enterprises. 

FIG. 9.—Assembling Assyrian threshold in Museum laboratory 
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FIG. IO.—Urbanization symposium in session in the Museum 

It is through the administrative offices that all of the thousands of arche-
ological artifacts brought in from field expeditions get accessioned and 
numbered and ultimately assigned to storage cases in the basement, 
where they can be located by a carefully organized system of registra­
tion. It is to the photographic records section of the Museum's adminis­
trative offices that all the hundreds of invaluable field expedition nega­
tives are turned over—for accessioning, for reproduction, for study 
purposes, and ultimately for the preparation of publishable prints. It is 
here, too, that are kept the rich print collections representing views of 
places, sites, objects, and diggings brought together from the under­
takings and holdings of other institutions at home and abroad that are 
working in the same field with us. It is here, finally, that are held the 
slide collections we use in our classwork. 

Currently, the Museum offices are involved also in a growing busi­
ness enterprise—whose income is fed back into our scholarly work— 
that of selling to a public with a growing appetite for such things repro­
ductions of ancient art objects and of colored prints, of "paperbacks," 
of postcards, and of booklets describing certain of our exhibits. As the 
result of a simple story that appeared in the Chicago daily papers last 

19 

oi.uchicago.edu



winter, the Museum offices have even been concerned lately with 
requests from other museums to supply them with some of our un-
exhibited mummies, since these are now hard to come by. More im­
portantly, the Museum offices have during the past year gone over our 
extensive holdings in small precious and semiprecious objects, in manu­
scripts on parchment and on papyrus, and have organized them for 
accessibility and exhibition in our steel and concrete vault on the second 
floor of the Institute building. Currently, they are at work creating in 
another room a system of archives—-where the original drawings, sur­
vey records, object registers, and "journals" of past expeditions are to 
be housed for future reference as needed. For this installation we shall 
need new lighting and filing equipment, as we need it also in the "slide" 
room. 

So the work of the Oriental Institute Museum is indeed many-sided, 
with ramifications in all directions. We may be dealing with the oldest 
and most remote types of museum materials more consistently and 
more comprehensively than any other museum in the entire country. 
But we are anything but "dead" and "static." The grimy dirt from the 
Chicago smog we find difficult to keep from settling on our windows, 
our desks, our laboratory equipment, our exhibits, and our storage 
bins. But the dust of the ages does not get a chance to settle—-it is con­
tinually being stirred up by our efforts to perform our manifold duties. 

In its work the Oriental Institute Museum has been greatly helped 
and encouraged by the interest, the gifts, and the contributions of the 
Members and Friends of the Institute. We hope we may continue to 
deserve that interest in the future. Museums must continue to grow and 
change if they are to serve the contemporary world and are to exhibit 
to the future the meaning and character of the past. This is true both in 
an intellectual and in a physical sense, and if tomorrow we could add a 
new wing to our building, running back to Woodlawn Avenue, com­
plete with more exhibition space, with a laboratory for the newest 
technological equipment, with a better lecture hall, and with special 
facilities for handling groups of school children, we not only would be 
able to put its facilities to immediate use but would have the initiative 
and the imagination to make them count effectively in the sum total of 
our efforts for science, for the University, and for the community. 
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Alvin E. Bastien 

Howard Goodman 

Oriental Institute Visiting Committee 1958/59 
John Nuveen, Chairman Mrs. Gustavus F. Swift, Sr., Co-chair­

man 
Mrs. Robert McCormick Adams 
Mrs. Tiffany Blake 

John W. Leslie Mrs. George G. Cameron 
Walter Paepcke Mrs. John Alden Carpenter 
_ ^ 11 Mrs. Tohn W. Leslie 
Ernest Quantrell J 

Mrs. Earle Ludgin 
Richard E. Schmidt M r s c p h i m p M i U e r 

Hermon D. Smith Mrs. Edwin A. Seipp 

Theodore D. Tieken M r s ' T h e o d o r e D - T l e k e n 

Mrs. Chester D. Tripp 
Chester D. Tripp M r s J o s e p h L Valentine 

Roderick Webster Mrs. Roderick Webster 

Oriental Institute Membership Fund 
Condensed Statement, 1958/59 

Balance, July 1, 1958 
Restricted purposes $14,969.89 
General purposes 7,380.49 

Total 22,350.38 
Income, July 1, 1958—June 30, 1959 

Members* dues and gifts $26,416.50 
Refunds and sundries 1,825.00 

Total 

Expenditures, July 1, 1958—June 30, 1959 
Support of Institute activities 
Purchase of objects 
Loan exhibits 
Printing 
Mimeographing and postage 
Drafting and artwork 
Lectures and entertainment 
Miscellaneous 

Total 

Balance, June 30, 1959 
Held for restricted purposes 

28,241.50 

13,000.00 
6,275.00 

700.00 
918.09 
248.52 
180.78 

565.55 
156.61 

22,044.55 

28,241.50 

50,591.88 

22,044.55 

28,547.33 
20,469.89 

Operating balance, general purposes $ 8,077.44 
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Members of the 

Mrs. Robert McCormick Adams, Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. William E. Adams, Chicago 
Mrs. Lee Winfield Alberts, Barrington 
Mr. & Mrs. M. Lee Alberts, Chicago 
Mr. Robert Allerton, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Hugo A. Anderson, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Albert L. Arenberg, Highland Park 
Mr. Fred Ascher, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Benjamin H. Badenoch, Clarendon Hills 
Mr. & Mrs. Arthur A. Baer, Chicago 
Mrs. Ernest S. Ballard, Hubbard Woods 
Mrs. Ernest E. Barber, Niles, Mich. 
Mr. & Mrs. James M. Barker, Chicago 
Mrs. Henry G. Barkhausen, Chicago 
Mrs. Cecil Barnes, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Roy Evan Barr, Chicago 
Mr. Alvin Bastien, Chicago 
Mrs. James E. Baum, Lake Forest 
Mrs. Arsha-louise Bedrosian, Evanston 
Miss Helen R. Beiser, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Laird Bell, Winnetka 
Mr. & Mrs. Jack A. Benjamin, Glencoe 
Mr. & Mrs. William F. Benoist, Jr., Winnetka 
Dr. & Mrs. Charles L. Bidwell, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Hill Blackett, Newton, Ga. 
Mrs. Tiffany Blake, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Vincent R. Bliss, Barrington 
Mr. & Mrs. Francis L. Block, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Leigh B. Block, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Carleton Blunt, Winnetka 
Mr. & Mrs. Stewart Boal, Winnetka 
Mr. Mason Bohrer, Missoula, Mont. 
Mr. & Mrs. Chauncey Borland, Chicago 
Miss Harriet Borland, Washington, D.C. 
Mrs. Augustine Bowe, Chicago 
Miss Eleanor Ruth Bower, Santa Barbara, Calif. 
Mr. F. L. Bower, Basking Ridge, N.J. 
Mr. & Mrs. J. A. Bowman, Evanston 
Mrs. T. Kenneth Boyd, Winnetka 
Mr. William R. Boyd, Lake Wales, Fla. 
The Reverend Professor Raymond Boyer, France 
Mr. & Mrs. Charles T. Boynton, Elkhart, Ind. 
Mr. & Mrs. Herbert E. Bradley, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Morris Braun, Chicago 
Mr. Cameron Brown, Lake Forest 
Mrs. Granger Brown, Libertyville 
Mr. & Mrs. Walther Buchen, Winnetka 
Miss Clarinda Buck, Chicago 
Mrs. Clarence A. Burley, Winnetka 
Mrs. John Meigs Butler, Hubbard Woods 
Mr. & Mrs. Morton D. Cahn, Winnetka 
Mrs. George G. Cameron, Ann Arbor, Mich. 
Mrs. John Alden Carpenter, Chicago 
Miss Helen Caruso, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Edward J. Chalifoux, La Grange 
Mr. & Mrs. Harry H. Chumley, Chicago 
Mrs. Peggy V. Church, San Diego, Calif. 

ntal Institute, 1958/59 

Dr. Marie L. Connelly, Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. N . R. Cooperman, Chicago 
Mr. Arthur W . Cornell, Chicago 
Mrs. George L. Cragg, Chicago 
Miss Virginia Croon, Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. A. A. Dahlberg, Chicago 
Miss Cordelia Dahlberg, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. R. Hosken Damon, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. William W . Darrow, Winnetka 
Mr. & Mrs. Sigmund W . David, Glencoe 
Mr. & Mrs. DeForest P. Davis, Lake Forest 
Mr. Lester S. Davis, Flossmoor 
Mr. O. Paul Decker, Chicago 
Mrs. C. S. DeLong, Lake Forest 
Mr. & Mrs. Gus C. Detiefsen, Chicago 
Mr. F. R. Dickinson, Chicago 
Mrs. Homer Dixon, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Bayard Dodge, Princeton, NJ. 
Mrs. L. E. Patrick Dolan, Lake Forest 
Mrs. Muriel P. Donaldson, Hollywood, Calif 
Mr. Querin P. Dorschel, Chicago 
Professor Georges Dossin, Belgium 
Mr. Albert C. Droste, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Harry J. Dunbaugh, Hubbard Woods 
Mr. Dows Dunham, Boston, Mass. 
Mr. & Mrs. Fletcher M. Durbin, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Alfred K. Eddy, Chicago 
Mrs. Edwin Eells, Bar tie tt 
Miss Dorothy B. Eich, Oak Park 
Mr. & Mrs. E. K. Eichengreen, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Winston Elting, Libertyville 
Mr. Donald Erickson, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Thurlow G. Essington, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Keith J. Evans, Riverside 
Mr. & Mrs. Roger Faherty, Chicago 
Mr. Walter A. Fairservis, Jr., New York, N.Y. 
Mrs. Ellsworth Faris, Lake Forest 
Mrs. Howard W . Fenton, Chicago 
Mrs. Edward R. Ferriss, St. Charles 
Mrs. George R. Folds, Evanston 
Mr. Robert S. Foster, Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. Earle B. Fowler, River Forest 
Mr. John M. Frank, Hubbard Woods 
Dr. & Mrs. Richard Frank, Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. Thomas M. French, Chicago 
Miss Margaret Jean Galijas, Evanston 
Dr. Paul Leslie Garber, Decatur, Ga. 
Mr. Hugh M. G. Garden, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Bertrand Goldberg, Chicago 
Mr. William E. Goodman, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Everett D . Graff, Winnetka 
Mr. Herbert Grams, Lake Forest 
Miss Ruth E. Green, Lake Forest 
Miss Sarah Greenebaum, Chicago 
Mrs. Nels Gross, Los Angeles, Calif. 
Mrs. Mary-Jane Grunsfeld, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Charles C. Haffner, Jr., Lake Forest 
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Mr. & Mrs. H. H. Halley, Chicago 
Dr. Paul B. Harbour, Philadelphia, Pa. 
Mr. & Mrs. Homer Hargrave, Chicago 
The Very Reyerend Charles U. Harris, Evanston 
Miss M. Feme Hart, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. C. Daggett Harvey, Chicago 
Mrs. Marshall Haywood, Jr., Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. William H. Hazlett, Chicago 
Mrs. M. A. Hirschl, Chicago 
Mrs. Frank P. Hixon, Lake Forest 
Mrs. & Mrs. W . Press Hodgkins, Lake Forest 
Mr. Marshall G. S. Hodgson, Chicago 
Mr. Helmut Hoernes, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Frank V. Hoffman, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. McPherson Holt, Lake Forest 
Mr. & Mrs. Albert L. Hopkins, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Bernhard Lothar Hormann, Hawaii 
Mrs. Allen C. Howard, Winnetka 
Mr. & Mrs. James E. Howie, River Forest 
Mr. James P. Hume, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. William Hunt, Chicago 
Mr. Dwight Ingram, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Christian E. Jarchow, Wilmette 
Miss Lenore S.John, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. James P. Johnson, Chicago 
Miss Eva Josephine Jolly, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. George Roberts Jones, Chicago 
Mrs. & Mrs. RobcliffV.Jones, Bronxville, N.Y. 
Mr. & Mrs. Robert V. Jones, Chicago 
Mr. David K. Jordan, Park Ridge 
Mrs. Edwin Oakes Jordan, Washington, D.C. 
Dr. Ormand C. Julian, Chicago 
Mr. Stanley A. Kaplan, Chicago 
Mr. John Karahalios, Manhattan Beach, Calif. 
Mr. & Mrs. A. C. Keith, Jr., Amarillo, Tex. 
Mr. & Mrs. Stanley Keith, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Carl D. Kelly, Winnetka 
Mr. & Mrs. Thomas A. Kelly, Flossmoor 
Mr. & Mrs. Meyer Kestnbaum, Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. Joseph H. Kiefer, Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. Harold L. Klawans, Chicago 
Dr. Alvin E. Kleitsch, Lincoln, Neb. 
Dr. William P. Kleitsch, Omaha, Neb. 
Mr. & Mrs. Robert J. Koch, Chicago 
Mr. Jack A. Koefoot, Chicago 
Mr. Frank F. Kolbe, Chicago 
Mrs. Babette Kornblith, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Walter A. KrafFt, Chicago 
Mrs. Louis J. Kraus, Detroit, Mich. 
Mr. & Mrs. Louis B. Kuppenheimer, Winnetka 
Mr. & Mrs. Chester W . Laing, Evanston 
Mr. William La Mere, Arabia 
Miss Erma C. Lane, Chicago 
Colonel & Mrs. George T. Langhorne, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. J. Patrick Lannan, Chicago 
Mrs. Samuel T. Lawton, Jr., Highland Park 
Miss Margaret M. Lee, Hillsborough, Calif 
Professor & Mrs. Harvey B. Lemon, Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. George V. LeRoy, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. John W . Leslie, Evanston 
Mr. & Mrs. Nathaniel Leverone, Chicago 
Mrs. Salmon O. Levinson, Chicago 
The Reverend W . M. Littrell, Griffith, Ind. 

Mr. & Mrs. John Livingood, Hinsdale 
Mr. & Mrs. Glen A. Lloyd, Libertyville 
Mr. & Mrs. Earl A. Long, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Gordon Loud, Washington, D.C. 
Mrs. Josiah O . Low, Chicago 
Mr. Winfield Lowe, New York, N.Y. 
Mr. Herbert L. Lucas, Jr., Winnetka 
Mr. & Mrs. Earle Ludgin, Hubbard Woods 
Mr. & Mrs. Harold H. Lundberg, Wilmette 
Mr. & Mrs. B. H. Lunde, Park Ridge 
Mr. Erling H. Lunde, Chicago 
Mr. Joseph V. Lynskey, River Forest 
Dr. Hugh N . MacKechnie, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Arnold Maremont, Winnetka 
Mr. & Mrs. Jayson C. Marks, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Thomas L. Marshall, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Hans von der Marwitz, Chicago 
Mr. and Mrs. Samuel A. Marx, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Seabury C. Mastick, Pleasantville, N. Y. 
Dr. & Mrs. Herbert G. May, Oberlin, Ohio 
Mr. Gerhard Mayer, Highland Park 
Mrs. Donald Mazer, Chicago 
Mr. Samuel MacClintock, Chicago 
Mr. Donald F. McClure, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. J. D . McCollum, Hammond, Ind. 
Mr. & Mrs. Fowler McCormick, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. W . Sloan McCrea, Miami, Fla. 
Mr. & Mrs. Robert McDougal, Jr., Chicago 
Mr. Allan J. Mclsaac, Gary, Ind. 
Mr. & Mrs. George B. McKibbin, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Gerard A. McKinley, Winnetka 
Mrs. Ida McPherson, Chicago 
Mrs. Vera Megowen, Evanston 
Mrs. Horace J. Mellum, Chicago 
Mrs. Clinton Merrick, Evanston 
Mr. & Mrs. Gerhardt F. Meyne, Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. C. Phillip Miller, Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. A. Watson Miller, Herrin 
Miss Dorothy L. Miller, Rockford 
Mr. & Mrs. Edward P. Molloy, Chicago 
Mrs. William J. Morden, Bronxville, N.Y. 
Mr. & Mrs. Sterling Morton, Santa Barbara, Calif. 
Mr. & Mrs. Robert Muckley, Chicago 
Mrs. Howell W . Murray, Highland Park 
Mr. & Mrs. Arthur L. Myrland, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Samuel G. Naparstek, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Leston B. Nay, Chicago 
Mr. J. B. Neumann, New York, N.Y. 
Mr. & Mrs. Ernest L. Newton, Chicago 
Mr. Anwar Nuseibeh, Jerusalem, Jordan 
Mrs. Joseph E. O'Connor, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. William R. Odell, Lake Forest 
Miss Ildiko Olah, Chicago 
Mr. Robert O'Meara, Chicago 
Dr. Marie Ortmayer, Littleton, Colo. 
Mr. & Mrs. Gilbert H. Osgood, Winnetka 
Mr. Joseph E. Otis, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Raymond S. Owen, Highland Park 
Dr. & Mrs. Walter L. Palmer, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. William E. Palmer, Beverly Hills, Calif. 
Mr. & Mrs. Norman S. Parker, Evanston 
Dr. & Mrs. Paul J. Patchen, Chicago 
Mr. Robert Patterson, Chicago 
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Dr. William G. Peacher, Syracuse, N.Y. 
Mr. & Mrs. Albert Pendleton, Kenilworth 
Mrs. William F. Petersen, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Howard R. Peterson, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Holman D. Pettibone, Winnetka 
Dr. Charles F. Pfeiffer, Beverly Farms, Mass. 
Mrs. Dallas B. Phemister, Chicago 
Mrs. Rosalia Piotrowska, Chicago 
Sister Mary Pius, Milwaukee, Wis. 
Mr. Edward J. Piatt, New York, N.Y. 
Mr. & Mrs. Leon Pomerance, Great Neck, N. Y. 
Mr. Robert C. Preble, Sr., Chicago 
Mrs. Ira Maurice Price, Olympia, Wash. 
Dr. Jeremiah Quin, Chicago 
Mrs. Arthur Raff, Highland Park 
Mr. Leonard C. Rattner, New York, N.Y. 
Mr. Albert L. Raymond, Northfield 
Mr. John Rea, Winona Lake, Ind. 
Mr. William M. Redfield, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Haven A. Requa, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Irving Richardson, Wheaton 
Mr. John T. Roberts, Denver, Colo. 
Mr. & Mrs. Sanger P. Robinson, Chicago 
Miss Lynette Rosquist, Chicago 
Mr. John Ruettinger, Winnetka 
Mr. & Mrs. Edward L. Ryerson, Chicago 
Mr. Francis J. Ryley, Phoenix, Ariz. 
Mr. & Mrs. Henry S. Sandler, Evanston 
Mr. & Mrs. Chester Sargent, Winnetka 
Mr. & Mrs. Henry Scarborough, Chicago 
Mr. Norbert Schimmel, Great Neck, N. Y. 
Miss Anna P. Schneider, Chicago 
Mr. Lee Schooler, Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. Harold Schwartz, Chicago 
Mrs. L. J. Sebek, Hinsdale 
Mrs. Edwin A. Seipp, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Ovid R. Sellers, Santa Fe, N.M. 
Mr. & Mrs. R. L. Sergei, Chicago 
Mr. Carl T . Shelby, Muncie, Ind. 
Mr. & Mrs. Theodore Sheldon, Winnetka 
Mr. & Mrs. David L. Shillinglaw, Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. Harley M. Sigmond, Northbrook 
Mr. Henry Schaefer Simmern, Berkeley, Calif. 
Mr. & Mrs. George N . Simpson, Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. F. Marott Sinex, Wellesley, Mass. 
Miss A. Marguerite Smith, Brookline, Mass. 
Mr. & Mrs. Farwell Smith, Chicago 
Miss Gertrude Smith, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Perry D. Smith, Winnetka 
Mr. & Mrs. Ralph W . Smith, Niks, Mich. 
Mr. & Mrs. Solomon Byron Smith, Lake Forest 
Mrs. Walter Byron Smith, Chicago 
Mr. William D. Smith, Toledo, Ohio 
Mr. & Mrs. Robert E. Spiel, Lake Forest 
Mr. & Mrs. R. Lester Spitzley, Harper Woods, Mich. 
Mr. & Mrs. Edgar Stanton, Jr., Aspen, Colo. 
Mr. & Mrs. Sydney Stein, Jr., Winnetka 
Mr. & Mrs. Gardner H. Stern, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Herbert L. Stern, Jr., Hiohland Park 
Mr. & Mrs. Ernest J. Stevens, Chicago 
Mrs. R. Corwine Stevenson, Evanston 
Miss Sherin Stewart, Oak Lawn 
Miss Nellie R. Stickle, Elmhurst 

Miss Dorothy Stirling, Winnetka 
Mr. & Mrs. Walter T. Stockton, Evanston 
Mr. & Mrs. Leon Stolz, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Marshall H. Stone, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Walter F. Straub, Winnetka 
Mr. Keith D. Strawn, Lincoln, Neb. 
Mr. & Mrs. Carroll H . Sudler, Jr., Lake Forest 
Dr. H. Saul Sugar, Detroit, Mich. 
Mr. & Mrs. Henry Swain, Winnetka 
Mrs. Alden B. Swift, Chicago 
Mrs. Gustavus F. Swift, Sr., Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Gustavus F. Swift, Jr., Chicago 
Mr. Harold H. Swift, Chicago 
Miss Barbara Switalski, Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. Geza de Takats, Evanston 
Mr. & Mrs. Frank F. Taylor, Oak Park 
Mr. & Mrs. John R. Thomas, Los Angeles, Calif. 
Mrs. T. M. Thomas, Lake Forest 
Mr. & Mrs. Theodore D . Tieken, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Dean Tonelli, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. George W . Traver, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Chester D . Tripp, Evanston 
Dr. & Mrs. Alex S. Tulsky, Chicago 
Mr. Russell Tyson, Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. Erich M. Uhlmann, Chicago 
Mrs. Thomas I. Underwood, Chicago 
Mrs. Joseph L. Valentine, Chicago 
Mrs. Noah Van Cleef, Chicago 
Mrs. Archibald Beebe Van Deusen, Winnetka 
Mr. & Mrs. Herman T. Van Mell, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Errett Van Nice, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Harold Volkert, Chicago 
Dr. & Mrs. Howard F. Vos, Evanston 
Mr. Herman Waldeck, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Maurice Walk, Highland Park 
Mrs. Allyn D. Warren, Chicago 
Miss Helen R. Webster, Chicago 
Miss Mary H. Webster, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Roderick S. Webster, Winnetka 
Dr. Blanche C. Weill, New York, N.Y. 
Mr. Arthur R. Weinstein, Glencoe 
Mr. & Mrs. L. C. Welch, Evanston 
Mrs. John P. Welling, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Preston A. Wells, Winnetka 
Mr. & Mrs. Barrett Wendell, Chicago 
Mrs. Edward N . Wentwor th , Chesterton, Ind. 
Mr. & Mrs. Peter L. Wentz , Chicago 
Mr. Benjamin E. Werremeyer, Chicago 
Miss Frances E. Whedon, Lake Forest 
Mr. George D . Wilkinson, Jr., Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Philip Will, Jr., Evanston 
Mr. Clifford H. Williams, Chicago 
Mrs. Lynn A. Williams, Sr., Winnetka 
Mr. Harold Willoughby, Chicago 
Mr. Edward Thomas Wilson, Winnetka 
Mrs. Gladys Winger, Council Bluff's, Iowa 
Mrs. Ralph T. Winston, Chicago 
Mr. & Mrs. Frank H. Woods, Lake Forest 
Mrs. Ernest Zeisler, Chicago 
Mrs. & Mrs. Austin M. Zimmerman, Algonquin 
Mr. Robert Zimmermann, San Marino, Calif 
Mrs. Suzette M. Zurcher, Chicago 
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